
Synopsis
In 1983 the late Richard W. Babcock (1934-2014)

made headlines when he announced the discovery of a
building he termed the Forest Chapel—and which he var-
iously referred to as the French or Norumbega barn—lo-
cated on Breese Hollow Road in Hoosick, Rensselaer
County, New York.  Babcock interpreted this structure as
a legacy of a sixteenth-century French presence in that
area and evidence of the mythical settlement of
Norumbega, a theory which was roundly dismissed by
historians.1 The 36’ by 49’ building was subsequently
dismantled by Babcock and moved to Hancock,
Massachusetts, where it was destroyed by fire in 1994,
along with the New World Dutch barn in which it was
stored.  Photographs of the barn, along with measured
drawings, fortunately survive to portray its physical char-
acteristics.  After viewing drawings of the frame by Jack
A. Sobon, a onetime associate of Babcock, my curiosity
was aroused by the building’s unusual features, in partic-
ular its swing-beam bent, which physical evidence sug-

gested originally incorporated a king post in its construc-
tion. In the fall of 2014 I endeavored to identify the barn’s
former site which, once found, made it possible to trace
the history of the farm as a means of contextualizing the
building and reanalyzing it, not as a relic of French set-
tlement later converted to an agricultural function, but as
an early manifestation of the swing-beam barn type
(Photo 1).  While lost to fire it nevertheless remains one
of a very small number of identified scribe rule swing-
beam barns for which information exists, including three
located in adjacent southern Washington County.  Given
the relatively small number of scribe-rule examples of
this barn type identified to date in New York State and
elsewhere, this regional grouping of early examples may
prove critical in understanding the development of the
swing beam type. 

While Babcock interpreted aspects of the barn’s mar-
riage mark system and unusual post-to-sill corner braces
as being of French derivation, features such as the triple
bypass joinery, illustrated previously by Sobon, suggest

other cultural origins.2 Of consider-
able interest, given the building’s un-
conventional features and deviation
from standard typologies, is its loca-
tion in a region that was settled at an
early date by peoples from both the
New World Dutch and New England
cultural hearths; “Dutch Hosac,” a
settlement laid waste twice during
the mid-eighteenth century, was
nearby, as were farms settled by the
time of the Revolution by people of
Connecticut, Rhode Island and
Massachusetts lineage.  The property
was not, as Babcock thought, within
the Manor of Rensselaerwyck, but
instead on land contained within
Schneyder’s Patent (1762), one of
three large land grants that form the
balance of the present-day Town of
Hoosick.  It is this author’s present
hypothesis that the early swing-beam
barn type, exemplified by the so-
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Photo 1.  View of farmstead on which the Norumbega barn was located (author 2014).
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called Norumbega barn, may not be a typology reflecting
a particular cultural affiliation, nor place of Old World
origin, but is instead a native building form developed in
response to regional circumstances. The region of New
York in which the Norumbega barn was built, with its
early settlement history, diverse ethnic complexion, and
accessibility to the Hudson River for marketing its grain,
would seem to offer the appropriate context for just such
a development.  

Also bolstering this possibility is an increasing body of
information that demonstrates that New World Dutch and
New England-derived building traditions didn’t exist in
isolation in New York State, but sometimes merged to cre-
ate a creolized vernacular.  While the traditional New
World Dutch and English barn were patent early forms
there, other less precisely definable types were also con-
structed.  Preeminent among these was the swing-beam
barn, the origins of which remain unclear.   The New
World Dutch barn, with its commodious threshing floor
conceived to process grain on a large scale, offers com-
pelling parallels to the swing-beam barn type.  The tradi-
tional English three-bay barn of the eighteenth century, by
contrast, with a typically 30’ by 40’ plan accommodating
a 12’-wide by 30’-deep threshing floor, was designed for
flailing grain and did not afford sufficient space for tread-
ing grain with horses, a common manner of threshing in
New World Dutch barns.  

While it has been theorized that the swing-beam barn
is of Germanic origin, it may ultimately be found that
non-Northern Europeans played a role in the initial de-
velopment of this type, in New York State, by adopting as-
pects of New World Dutch barn design and implement-
ing them in a side entrance barn configuration.  The iden-
tification of a six-bent 40’ by 60’ swing-beam barn in
Easton, Washington County, the Fort barn, which employs
English tying joints for its end bents, offers potential evi-
dence to this effect.  While similarities are to be found in
the earliest identified examples, they
at the same time demonstrate the
early form did not adhere to a spe-
cific arrangement or manner of con-
struction, suggesting the possibility
of diffusion across the region’s ethni-
cally diverse population.  

Before dissecting specific aspects
of the barn’s construction it should
be acknowledged that Hoosick was
part of a larger region encompassing
northern Rensselaer and southern
Washington counties in which signif-
icant variation in construction at-
tends even the most common forms,
in some instances suggesting cultural
cross-pollination, and there unusual
and seemingly singular types are not
unknown.  Examples of the latter in-
clude a large 72’ by 30’ barn, the
frame of which employs six bents
with English tying joints, deviating
from identified models.
Considerable variation is evident in

the scribe-rule English barns of the region, as this tradi-
tional form was constructed in any number of different
ways there, with a variety of tying joint-bent typologies
and roof framing strategies.3 Given this circumstance,
judgments relative to specific features of the Norumbega
barn should be made carefully.  Some aspects of the
building are suggestive of New England building prece-
dents, among them the triple-bypass joinery, the arrange-
ment of bays and side-entrance configuration,4 and the
vertical boarding that enclosed the frame.  

The triple bypass joint was used in this region immedi-
ately after the Revolution, if not sooner, and occurred in
an area that includes this part of eastern New York and
adjacent areas of Vermont.5 Identified examples include
the “Scottish barn,” so-christened by Babcock, near
Buskirk, Rensselaer County, and English barns in Pawlet
and Shaftsbury, Vermont.  Another, the Walter Field barn,
an early example of the three-aisled New England barn
type illustrated by Ritchie Garrison, indicates its use in
northwestern Massachusetts, an area from which many
settlers of southern Washington County came.6 James
Sexton has demonstrated the use of this tying joint in
Connecticut by the mid-eighteenth century, where it be-
came an alternative to the traditional English tying joint.
Despite being a complex joint requiring three tenons, it
nevertheless solved the problem of the pulling out of the
tie beam in the conventional English tying joint due to the
shrinkage of the half-dovetail joint that typically locked
the tie beam in place.  In the instance of the Norumbega
barn, its use allowed all the rafters to be of a uniform
length, something not possible in the English tying joint
system, which required the tie teams and their corre-
sponding rafters to be positioned higher than the plate.   

Physical Characteristics
Many aspects of the Norumbega barn’s physical char-

acteristics can be discerned from the material previously

Norumbega Barn (continued from page 1)

Figure 1. Early 1980s aerial photograph of Rietz farm prior to barn’s removal, showing its
situation within the larger farm complex (courtesy Connie Kheel).



published by Babcock, the reconstruction drawings by
Sobon, and an aerial view of the farm predating the barn’s
removal.ii  The farm from which the Norumbega barn
was removed is located on the east side of Breese Hollow
Road in Hoosick; the survival of two adjacent buildings

that appear in photographs included in Babcock’s pub-
lished accounts allowed for ready identification of the
site.  The aerial photograph indicates that the barn was
positioned to the northwest of the house, a short distance
from the road, and was oriented with its roof ridge on an
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Figure 2.  Norumbega barn, longitudinal section (courtesy of Jack A. Sobon, 1983).

Figure 3.  Norumbega barn, swing beam and stable bents (courtesy of Jack A. Sobon, 1983).
(continued on page 4)
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east-to-west axis, the longer eave walls facing north and
south (Figure 1).  This is presumed to be its original loca-
tion, as the barn was built on a shallow foundation and
not above an excavated basement, the latter oftentimes
indicative of an earlier barn having been relocated in
order to satisfy changing agricultural functions.  The prop-
erty retains a number of other buildings, among them a
frame story-and-a-half dwelling with rear ell and a series
of ancillary buildings.  

The frame of the Norumbega barn was formed of five
transverse bents that created a four-bay structure of rect-
angular plan, the longer side elevations measuring 49’,
the gable ends being 36.’   The tripartite plan consisted of
a narrow stable bay, a wide central threshing floor occu-
pying the two center bays, and a hay mow.  The internal
bents were of the dropped tie-beam type while the end
bents employed triple bypass joinery as illustrated by
Sobon.  Unusual were the large down braces, approxi-
mately 14’ long, which extended from near the tops of the
posts down to the sills; these were flush with the exterior
of the frame and passed over horizontal girts positioned
between the sills and plates. More conventional bracing
was also employed at typical locations, such as between
posts and the top plates, and in some locations inter-
sected with the large down braces (Figure 2).  The roof
frame consisted of 13 pairs of tapered common rafters,
sustained mid-span by purlin plates, and with housed
birds-mouth connections with the plate.  A ridge beam re-
ceived the rafters at the roof’s apex, with wind bracing
present between the ridge beam and end rafters at the
gable ends.  The building’s exterior was sheathed with
vertical boarding, as opposed to the stud and weather-
board system characteristic of New World Dutch barns;
grooves in the undersides of the plates and end-bent tie
beams accommodated these, with a 3” overhang be-
tween the upper and lower boarding.  

The center of the barn was given over to a substantial
threshing floor spanned at mid-point by the swing beam.
The swing-beam bent was thus described by Babcock:

The first architectural detail to catch my eye was a great
swing beam, in a section of beams to the right of the
entrance doors… Above it, another beam ran parallel.
This one was smaller, with a brace at each end.  Above
that beam stood two purlin posts, bearing the weight of
the roof.  Smack dab in the middle of the great beam
was a king post—something I’d never seen in a barn
before.  The king post was joined to the great beam
with a half dovetail tenon.  A locking wedge was
driven in on one side.  In the center of the dovetail was
an oak peg that passed through the entire beam.  At
one time the king post rose to the roof, but had been
cut off above the smaller cross beam.9

All of the posts—not just those associated with the end
bents, which required two post tenons for the triple by-
pass joint—were tapered inwards, so as to be wider at
their tops in the transverse plane.  Both the swing beam
and upper tie beam in that bent were hewn so as to have
a crown at their center.  The tie beam corresponding with
the bent at the front of the narrow stable bay, which was
also cambered, was positioned lower than the remaining
tie beams and received studding (Figure 3).

Approximately one-half of the plan was given over to the
two-bay-wide threshing floor, indicating its importance to
the overall functionality of the building.  

The purlin plate with common rafter roof frame of the
Norumbega barn reflects the conventional manner of
framing New World Dutch barn roofs and had been
broadly adopted for the construction of English barns in
New York and parts of New England prior to the advent
of square-rule framing.  James Garvin indicates that com-
mon rafter roofs were employed in Connecticut and west-
ern Massachusetts at an early date, the result of interac-
tion with the New World Dutch cultural hearth.10 The
concept of a heavy purlin plate supporting common
rafters had been used in Connecticut and other areas of
New England in house construction, and more specifi-
cally in the framing of gambrel roofs.  The ridge beam, an-
other distinctive element of the barn, is a framing choice
observed in examples of scribe-rule English barns in
Salem and White Creek, Washington County, the latter
area being in close communication with Hoosick.  It is a
feature with a range of European precedents, among them
English and Dutch.

Dropped tie beams, like the common rafter system,
were also adopted in New England at an early date.
Sexton indicated their use at an early date for house fram-
ing in Connecticut, as part of the framing of large two-
story houses with integral lean-tos.11 Sobon surveyed an
example of its use in a barn built prior to the Revolution,
in Adams, Massachusetts, an area within the Hoosic River
watershed.12 They appear frequently in scribe-rule English
barns in this region and were sometimes employed for all
four bents of a three-bay structure, or otherwise in com-
bination with tie-at-plate joinery.  The hewing of tie
beams with a distinctive camber, or what might otherwise
be termed an arch or crown, appears to share strong as-
sociations with New World Dutch barn design and the
manner in which the massive anchor beams of the center
aisle were sometimes executed.  This treatment continued
to be used for swing beams in this region into the first
quarter of the nineteenth century.      

Among the Norumbega barn’s most distinctive features
were its large post-to-sill down braces and the king post
of the swing-beam bent, almost all of which was removed
at an unknown date for the installation of a hay track.
While there are clear parallels with Germanic timber
framing, the concept of large post-to-sill down braces is
not peculiar to that tradition.  Precedents are also found
in historic English carpentry and in early New England
house framing; the Boardman house in Saugus,
Massachusetts, illustrated by Abbott Lowell Cummings in
his classic work on Massachusetts Bay houses, is one ex-
ample.13 Ascribing a clear point-of-origin for this feature
is thus problematic. Precedents in barn construction in-
clude the Stryker barn, a dual swing-beam barn once lo-
cated in Somerset County, New Jersey, and examples of
Pennsylvania fore-bay barns.14 Most of the king post truss
had been removed by the time the barn was dismantled
and documented by Sobon; only the position of the cen-
tral post and where it met the upper chords of the truss
could be determined with certainty.  While not a unique
feature in New World barn design, the truss employed for

Norumbega Barn (continued from page 3)
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the Norumbega barn is nevertheless one with few identi-
fied counterparts.15 In the vast majority of swing-beam
barns surveyed in this region, of both scribe rule and
square-rule construction, one or multiple struts (some-
times with bracing), connected the swing beam with the
upper tie beam. 

At the time the barn was dismantled, in 1984, unusual
scribed compass markings were found on the top of the
ridge beam.  These consisted of a central circle with 13
rings, which was intersected by two smaller circles with
daisy wheel motifs; the latter were centered on the outer
ring and met the larger circle near the fifth-outermost ring.
The meaning and purpose of these markings has not yet
been determined.

Historical Background 
The farm from which the Norumbega barn was taken

was identified on the 1876 F.W. Beers map of the Town of
Hoosick as Lot 14 of Schneyder’s Patent (“Snyder” and
“Schneider” variously), a 10,000-acre tract situated east
of the Hoosick Patent, south of the Walloomsac Patent,
north of the Manor of Rensselaerwyck, and adjacent to
the present-day Vermont border. Maps indicate that the
farm was owned in the period ca. 1854-1876 by Dr. John
Warren (1806-1882), a prominent Hoosick physician
who married Susan Helling Dimick (1809-1881), identi-
fied in an 1896 source as a granddaughter of Hendrick
Schneyder (1721-1819), from whom the patent took its
name.16 Warren came to Hoosick ca. 1825-26 and
resided at Hoosick Corners, on the Troy-Bennington stage
road, in a building previously kept as a tavern by David
Wilcox.17 Both the Warren and Dimick families were of
New England ancestry and had earlier intermarried in
Connecticut.  Dr. John Warren was born in Ashford,
Windham County, Connecticut, as was Otis Dimick
(1786-1830), father of Susan H. Dimick.  Otis Dimick
wed Sarah Snyder in Albany in 1808, and Susan H.
Dimick was their only child.  

As noted by N.B. Sylvester in his History of Rensselaer
County, “Hendrick Schneider settled about 1762, on the
south part of his patent, on a farm afterwards known as
the Dimmick place, the Dickenson place, and in late
years owned by Dr. John Warren.  Mrs. Dr. Warren is a
descendant of Mr. Schneider, the original patentee.”18

Hendrick Schneyder, of German ancestry, was identified
as a resident of New Jersey at the time the petition for the
land grant that took his name was made, in 1761, as were
all but one of the patentees.  Other patentees from New
Jersey joined Schneyder in settling these lands soon after
securing rights in 1762, among them John Wetteck,
Hendrick Lake, John Johnson and Garret Williamson.
They were joined soon thereafter by other pioneers, some
from the more immediate area, among them members of
the Quackenbush, Ostrander, Helling, Patten, Palmer,
Randall, and Cotterell families.19 Lands in the patent
were owned outright by settlers or otherwise leased by
tenants from landlords, a condition not uncommon in the
early land grants of this region, among them the Pittstown
and Cambridge patents.   

An early map of Schneyder’s Patent depicts lot 14;20 it
is not shown as being owned by Hendrick Schneyder at
that date, but is instead depicted as being one of 11 lots
under the ownership of Alexander Colden (1716-1774),

Surveyor-General of the Province of New York and son of
prominent colonial figure Cadwallader Colden (ca. 1688-
1776).  Schneyder was identified as the owner of three
lots, among them lot 23, situated to the immediate north-
east of lot 14; a portion of lot 23 adjoined the eastern
boundary of lot 14.  Alexander Colden’s brother, David
Colden (1733-1784), was identified as the owner of an
additional seven lots consisting of 1,000 acres.  His
Loyalist leanings required him to flee America for England
at the end of the Revolution.  One of David Colden’s lots,
not identified by number, was leased in 1767 “at 7.10 per
annum, Rent to commence five years after ye Date.”  It
was noted as the only of his seven lots rented to a tenant
at that time.21 Lot 14 had apparently been sold by the
time of Alexander Colden’s death in 1774.  There is no
mention of land in Schneyder’s Patent in Colden’s will,
which offered a somewhat detailed account of his various
real estate holdings and how they would be dispersed
among his heirs.22 Most of Lot 23 fell within the state of
Vermont at the time that boundary was established.

Hendrick Schneyder’s son, Nicholas Snyder (1750-
1808), appears on the 1779 tax roll for the Hoosick or
“Hosack” District, as do Henry—presumably Hendrick’s
son, Henry, Jr.— and Christopher Snyder.23 Twenty years
later, at the time of the 1799 Hoosick tax assessment,
Nicholas Snyder and Henry Snyder were assessed, with
Nicholas being the only one of the two claiming taxable
real estate assets; the same situation is found at the time
of the 1800 assessment.  By 1802 Henry Snyder, Nicholas
Snyder, and Nicholas Snyder, Jr. were all taxed as owners
of separate dwellings and farms, with the elder Nicholas’s
farm being the most highly valued, as it was again in
1803.  All three were noted as heads-of-household at the
time of the 1800 Federal census, which additionally
noted Nicholas Snyder, Sr. as the owner of a slave.  

Nicholas Snyder married Susannah Helling (1751-
1831).  While not entirely clear, the Sarah Snyder (b.
1790) who wed Otis Dimick was possibly their daughter;
if so, Susan H. Dimick was not a granddaughter of paten-
tee Hendrick Schneyder, as noted in the 1896 source, but
instead a great-granddaughter.  Sarah Snyder was 18 at
the time of her father’s death and her marriage in 1808;
one source indicates Nicholas Snyder died intestate, at
which time his two minor children, Ulpianus and Sarah,
were assigned guardians.24 As for the patentee, Hendrick
Schneyder, he was of advanced age by 1800 and pre-
sumably living in the household headed by his son Henry,
Jr., which consisted of 11 individuals.  He died in 1819,
six years after his wife, Jane Hunter Schneyder (1729-
1813).

The various documentary references suggest that the
Norumbega barn was located on what was described by
N.B. Sylvester in 1880 as the early Schneyder home-
stead.25 Dr. John Warren appears to have kept his princi-
pal abode at Hoosick Corners, and his association with
the Breese Hollow farm followed his marriage into the
Dimick family.  The Dimick’s connection to the property
presumably came with Otis Dimick’s 1808 marriage to
Sarah Snyder.  Otis Dimick first appeared as a resident of
Hoosick in the Federal census of 1820; 10 years prior
both he and his father, Elias Dimick (1750-1839), were
residents of Bennington County, Vermont.  He was in
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Hoosick by 1816, at which time he bore witness, along
with Anthony J. Brees and Stephen Cobb, to the assign-
ment of a guardian for two of Daniel Hallenbeck’s daugh-
ters.26 The Hallenbeck and Snyder families had intermar-
ried, as Daniel Hallenbeck (1752-1813) had wed Gurtje
Charity Snyder (1755-1836), a daughter of Hendrick
Schneyder.  In 1820 Otis Dimick was listed as a head of
household in Hoosick engaged in agriculture, adjacent to
the Hallenbecks, who lived to the immediate east of the
subject property; the household consisted of Dimick, his
wife and daughter, two other women—possibly
Hallenbecks—and a female slave. 

The Norumbega Barn: When was it Built and
What Factors Influenced its Design?

In the absence of documentation, historians are left to
speculate on when the Norumbega barn was erected.
Jack Sobon ascribed a later-eighteenth century date to it,
based on his first-hand familiarity with the building and
its physical characteristics.27 The barn’s storage and
threshing capacity suggests it was not a settlement-period
structure but instead one built after a considerable
amount of acreage had been brought under tillage, and
likely after the conclusion of the Revolution, which sig-
naled the end of a long period of conflict in the region. In
neither form nor construction did it strictly adhere to New
England or New World Dutch typologies, supporting the
notion that it was built following a period of cross-cultural
interaction in Hoosick, where cultural differences relative
to agriculture and barn design existed at an early date.
The information offered by the Hoosick tax rolls of 1799-
1803 and the 1800 Federal census suggest the barn was
part of the elder Nicholas Snyder’s farm, which passed to
Otis Dimick following his marriage to Sarah Snyder and
Nicholas Snyder’s death, both of which occurred in 1808.
It is speculated here that the barn was built after the
American Revolution and before 1808 for Nicholas
Snyder.  

A barn of this scale and layout is suggestive of grain
cultivation on a considerable scale.  With each passing
year following the establishment of the first homesteads in
Schneyder’s Patent more land was brought under prof-
itable cultivation and as such a greater quantity of grain
could be produced, with increasing amounts of surplus to
be brought to market.  As early as 1750 Peter Kalm noted
the importance of wheat farming in the larger Albany re-

gion and the shipment of flour to the New York market via
the Hudson River.28 Grain threshing in this barn was pre-
sumably accomplished by treading with horses, a prac-
tice common in parts of early New York and one for
which the New World Dutch barn and large swing-beam
barns were well conceived.  This process sometimes em-
ployed a vertical pole mounted between the threshing
floor and the anchor or swing beam, to serve as a guide
for the circular motion of the horses, with the grain being
threshed either by the horses themselves or with a drawn
device (Figure 4).  Jeptha Simms, in his History of
Schoharie County, offered a detailed description of how
this process was sometimes undertaken:

Grain was thrashed, as it is at the present day [1845]
by the descendants of those people who have no ma-
chines for the purpose, by the feet of horses. The pro-
cess is simple.   In the center of the barn floor, which
is roomy, an upright bar is placed, previously rendered
a pivot at each end, to enter a hole in the floor below,
and a corresponding one in a beam or plank overhead.
Through this shaft, at a suitable height from the floor, a
pole is passed, to which several horses are fastened so
as to travel abreast.  A quantity of sheaves being
opened and spread upon the floor, the horses are
started at a round trot, thus trampling the grain from
the straw… Persons in attendance, are constantly em-
ployed in turning and shaking the straw with a fork,
keeping the horses in motion, removing any unclean-
ness, &c… Some use a roller to aid the process.  This
is a heavy, rounded timber, worked much smaller on
one end then the other, with square pins of hardwood
inserted at proper distances the whole length.  The
smallest end of this roller is so fastened to the shaft as
to preserve the horizontal motion of one, and the per-
pendicular motion of the other, at the same time.  To
the heavy end of the roller, horses are fastened, draw-
ing it on the same principle, that the stone wheel in an
ancient bark mill was drawn.  In threshing with horses,
the roller is of great assistance.29

Treading, or tramping or tromping as it was otherwise
known, correlates with larger harvests and the desire to
quickly process grain for market in the age before mech-
anized threshing.  While more expedient than flailing
grain, it nevertheless had the disadvantage of damaging
the leftover straw, a potential consideration in choosing
between the two processes.  Treading was not a common

form of threshing in early New England, where in-
stead the flail predominated.30

Given the Schneyder’s German ancestry and New
Jersey background, it is tempting to surmise both as
potential influences on the barn’s design; recent
scholarship suggests however that the swing beam
barn this barn did not become common in New
Jersey until the last quarter of the eighteenth century,
after the family’s migration to Hoosick.  Efforts to
definitively establish a link between swing-beam
barns and early German populations—a concept
first promoted by Babcock in his interpretation of
the Kniskern barn—have proved inconclusive.31 It
has already been demonstrated that the terms
“Dutch” and “English” were used to describe barns
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Norumbega Barn (continued from page 5)

Figure 4.  Drawing of a “thrashing” machine, by Rufus Grider (1899).



in eighteenth-century real estate advertisements, yet no
such advertisements have yet been found describing a
“German barn.”  While the type appears in areas settled
at an early date by Palatine Germans, such as in the
Mohawk and Schoharie valleys, scribe-rule examples also
document its use at an early date outside of German-set-
tled areas.  These are among the factors which seem to
discourage the notion of this building type being of dis-
tinctly German origin; the initial development of this ty-
pology may instead prove far more complex than a sin-
gle-point origin.  It seems just as likely that the
Norumbega barn relates to developments closer at hand
and to the complex cultural landscape of Hoosick the
family entered upon migrating out of New Jersey. 

Comparative Analysis   
Recent survey work in southern Washington County

has allowed for the identification of three swing-beam
barns of scribe-rule construction, two of which were lo-
cated in Easton, on the east side of the Hudson River cor-
ridor, within the 1684 Saratoga Patent.32 While the de-
velopment of the type at the regional and state-wide level
is not fully understood, a partial image of the swing beam
barn in the Hudson-Hoosic river watershed has come into
focus.  During the first quarter of the nineteenth century
swing-beam barns emerged as a recognizable typology in
a region inclusive of southern Washington County and
northern Rensselaer County, as evidenced by scores of
examples thus far encountered there.  These later ver-
sions, built using square-rule joinery and exhibiting stan-
dardized characteristics, indicate the evolving nature of
this barn type and its broad regional adoption by that
time.33 The two scribe-rule Easton barns, while concep-
tually similar to one another in bay arrangement and the
space afforded for expanded threshing floors, neverthe-
less display attributes not consistent with a single building
tradition, and qualify as anomalies against the larger
backdrop of identified typologies; how they influenced
the latter class of buildings remains a matter of specula-
tion.  Both Easton examples subsequently had their swing
beams removed, though in each instance definitive evi-
dence of them remains. One was built in an area north of
the Hoosic River near the Easton-Cambridge border,
northeast of Schaghticoke, on a farm owned by the Fort
family in the early nineteenth century, the other on the De
Ridder farm, an early homestead located on the Hudson
River across from Schuylerville, Saratoga County.  Wheat
farming was a principal agricultural pursuit in the
Hudson-Hoosic region prior to declining steeply after
1830, by which time soil exhaustion, fungal and insect
blights, and competition from new markets collectively
took their toll.  The Fort and De Ridder barns appear to
have been built with threshing foremost in mind, and long
before wheat farming’s regional demise (Figure 5). 

The Fort barn is located in the Beadle Hill area of
Easton, on land owned by that family at the mid-point of
the nineteenth century (Photo 2). Isaac Danielse Fort
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Figure 5.  Comparison of the plans of the Norumbega, Fort and
DeRidder barns; shaded area depicts area afforded for threshing
and dotted line indicates position of swing beam (author 2015).

Photo 2.  Fort barn interior; view showing corner post w/ ETJ and
adjacent dropped tie beam bent (author 2012).



8 Dutch Barn Preservation Society Newsletter / Fall 2015

(1724-1780), of French lineage, came to this area from
Albany in 1763.34 Isaac Fort’s grandson, Lewis Fort
(1803-1880), married Julia Hoag, whose family was part
of a large Quaker migration to the area; the present ca.
1854 Greek Revival-style farmhouse in which they
resided represents a later period of development, the barn
being a relic of an earlier era. The land on which the barn
is located was part of “Great Lot” 44 of the Saratoga
Patent. These lands, originally leased to tenants, were by
1783 offered for sale by John Cochran, a relative by mar-
riage of Philip Schuyler.35 The owner of the property prior
to Lewis Fort’s tenure is not yet known.  Many of the ear-
liest settlers in this tier of lots in the southeast part of the
patent were Quakers, among them the Hoags and
Giffords.    

Like the Norumbega barn, the 40’ by 60’ Fort barn was
built with both tie-at-plate and dropped tie beam bents
and a common rafter roof, the latter consisting of 19 com-
mon rafter pairs and corresponding purlin-plates.  The
end bents have English tying joints while the four internal
bents have dropped tie beams. The now-removed swing
beam was of substantial size, approaching two feet in
depth, as evidenced by the mortises that once received it;
the location of dual struts that connected the upper and

lower beams are also visible on the upper tie beam.  The
overall plan in essence consisted of a 20’ hay mow, a 30’
threshing floor, and a 10’ stable area.  The building is ori-
ented with its roof ridge on a north-south axis, which ap-
pears to be the original condition, with one of its large
flank entrances fronting on the road.  A roughly 29’-wide
by 40’-deep threshing floor was made possible by the
swing beam, which spanned this central bay at the mid-
way point; the original floor remains, consisting of longi-
tudinally arranged planking held in place by square pins.
Curious was the position of the swing beam, its underside
having been not much more than six feet above floor
level, leading one to question the possibility of using the
floor for grain treading given the low clearance and the
need to have animals pass underneath the beam as they
trod.  

The De Ridder barn is located on an early Easton
homestead settled before the Revolution and can be
definitively linked to that family (Photo 3); by all indica-
tions the barn was built during the lifetime of Simon De
Ridder (1765-1832).  Members of this family, three broth-
ers, came to Albany from Holland in 1683.  One of the
three, Killian De Ridder, purchased a large tract of land in
the Saratoga Patent in 1685, and it was in the northern

Norumbega Barn (continued from page 7)

Photo 3.  DeRidder barn (author 2010).
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part of this land that the homestead was later estab-
lished.36 The De Ridder farm was located on a fertile ex-
panse of land adjacent to the Hudson River, on present-
day River Road, upon which many Dutch and German
families settled.  The Becker family, Palatine Germans
from Schoharie County, settled on an adjacent farm in
1768, while Dutch families including the Van Burens and
Van Schaicks occupied farms to the south.  This narrow
strip of Easton along the river, upon which these families
settled, was culturally different from the interior areas of
the same town, which were settled by large numbers of
New Englanders and Quakers.37

While the De Ridder barn is narrower in plan than the
Fort barn, measuring 30’ by 60,’ it nevertheless presents a
similar bay configuration, with a roughly 20’ hay mow,
30’ threshing floor, and 10’ stable area.  The De Ridder
frame was erected with five bents.  The broad spacing of
the bents defining the hay mow was augmented by an ad-
ditional post; in the case of the Fort barn, an additional
bent was used at this location.  The bents of the De Ridder
barn were all of the dropped tie beam type, and a large
amount of the framing material is pine or hemlock, unlike
the white oak which was the principal material used in
the Fort barn.  The roof frame consists of 16 rafter pairs,
without collar ties or purlin plates, birds-mouthed to the
inside face of the plates.38 A lapped half-dovetail present
on the upper tie beam of the former swing-beam bent,
which indicates the position of a downward strut, to-
gether with the empty post mortises, confirm the former
presence of this feature, which was 7’-4” above floor
level.  Unlike the Fort barn, the framing exhibits a dis-
tinctly New World Dutch feeling, although the present
system of studding and weather board is a later alteration,
the building having been originally sheathed with vertical
planks, a treatment more characteristic of English barns.
The De Ridder barn appears to be on its original site, ori-
entated with its roof ridge aligned on an east-to-west axis.
Like the Norumbega and Fort barns, it was built on a shal-
low foundation.  

Noteworthy in the context of this study is a barn in
Pittstown, Rensselaer County, west of Hoosick and south
of Easton and the Hoosic River, a 35’ by 55’ scribe-rule
barn with eaves-wall entrance. It is a building that ex-
hibits clear indicators of New World Dutch design. This
barn appears to date to the tenure of the Deyoe family on
these lands, French Huguenots who first settled in Ulster
County, New York, in the seventeenth century.  The barn
presumably dates to the lifetime of Peter Deyoe (1738-
1812), who is buried in an adjacent cemetery with a
number of other family members.  The frame, rendered
almost entirely from white oak, including the rafters, was
built with six bents which defined an 11’ stable area, a
24’ threshing floor, and a 20’ hay mow.  All bents em-
ployed dropped tie beams and the frame was studded out
for weather boarding in characteristic New World Dutch
barn fashion.  It is of the flank entrance type, like the Fort
and De Ridder barns, and in plan exhibits a similar ar-
rangement of bays.  This barn is of particular interest for
the manner in which the central bay—housing the thresh-
ing floor— was expanded longitudinally.  A swing beam
was not employed; instead, two transverse bents with
cambered tie beams were used to achieve a similar solu-
tion.  The positions of these posts defined the 12’-wide
entrance bay, and their clear-span tie beams afforded an

additional six feet of space to either side of what was oth-
erwise a 12’ bay, thereby achieving the same practical ad-
vantage as a swing beam offset to one side.  The roof
frame has 13 pairs of common rafters sustained mid-span
by purlin plates, the rafters meeting the inner face of the
plate in a birds-mouth joint. The functional intent of the
Deyoe barn seems clear: the desire to achieve expanded
threshing space in a flank-entrance configuration.  

This survey of regional examples demonstrates that ef-
forts were being made to develop forms which would best
suit localized farming requirements, which in the latter
eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries centered on
larger scale grain production.  While dissimilar in con-
struction, these three examples offer parallels in their
adoption of side entrance configurations, and in plan,
with roughly half their length given over to wide thresh-
ing floors.  It is hard to deny the H-bent core of the New
World Dutch barn as an analogous form, though a direct
connection has yet to be documented.  While examples
of New World Dutch barns with double-anchor beam
bents seem to offer a compelling if not direct precedent,
those with which the author is familiar seem to have been
built too late to have influenced the first class of swing-
beam barns. 

Conclusion   
The locations of the Fort, DeRidder and Norumbega

barns suggest the possibility of a related regional devel-
opment of the swing-beam type, as all are located near
the interconnected Hoosic-Hudson river watershed, and
in an area where there was much familial and cultural in-
teraction.  These, along with the Deyoe barn, were built
in a region where both New World Dutch and New
England building traditions were established at an early
date, and where hybrid house and barn forms were com-
mon.  The Norumbega barn, together with the other ex-
amples, speaks to the difficulty of assigning precise cul-
tural descriptors to vernacular architecture in mixed-eth-
nic areas, where there was a free exchange of ideas and
building concepts.  Buildings such as the Norumbega
barn defy attempts at simple categorization and speak to
the complexity of the built environment and the various
forces that shaped vernacular design in this era.   
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New World Dutch Barns in the Hoosick Valley
The following photographs are reproduced from Grace Greylock Niles’ The Hoosac Valley, Its

Legends and Its History (New York: G. P. Putnam’s Sons, 1912).  They depict three early New World
Dutch barns in the valley and provide some context for the Norumbega barn.  Unfortunately all three
have been lost.

—The Editor

Gerrit Cornelius van Ness farm, St. Croix

Van Ness farm, St. Croix

(continued on page 12)
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